THE IMPACT OF STUDENT THREATS AND ASSAULTS ON TEACHER ATTRITION

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY

OF

THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF APPLIED AND PROFESSIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

OF

RUTGERS,

THE STATE UNIVERSITY OF NEW JERSEY

BY

DANIELLE MARIE ZURAWIECKI

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE

REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

OF

DOCTOR OF PSYCHOLOGY

NEW BRUNSWICK	A, NEW JERSEY
---------------	---------------

OCTOBER 2013

APPROVED:		
	Anne Gregory, Ph.D.	
		_
	Linda Reddy, Ph.D.	
DEAN:		
	Stanley Messer, Ph.D.	_



Abstract

High teacher turnover plagues many public schools in the United States. Student misbehavior is sometimes noted as a reason for teachers leaving the profession. Less known is the impact of serious aggressive student behavior, such as verbal and physical assault, on teacher attrition. The current study's participants included 2,904 consenting teachers who participated in the National Center for Education Statistics School and Staffing Survey 2007-2008 and the Teacher Follow-up Survey 2008-2009. Teachers reported instances of verbal and physical assaults and their professional status at a one year follow-up. They also reported on working conditions, such as administrative support. Using logistical regression and Hierarchical General Linear Modeling, the study found that teachers who experienced student threats and assaults were more likely to move to another school. Unexpectedly, these negative experiences with students did not increase the likelihood teachers exited the profession a year later. Yet, as anticipated, a greater level of administrative support perceived by teachers was associated with a decreased level of attrition for both teacher groups – those changing schools and those exiting the profession. That said administrative support was not found to buffer the attrition effects of teachers who experienced threats/assaults. These findings suggest that administrators may need to systematically intervene with teachers who experience student threat and assault. By doing so, administrators may help prevent teachers from ultimately deciding to relocate to another school – this is especially important for low income, low performing schools where students may be negatively impacted by high teacher turnover.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank a number of people who have supported and encouraged me throughout the dissertation process. First and foremost, I would like to thank my dissertation chair, Dr. Anne Gregory. I am indebted to Dr. Gregory, whose unwavering guidance and support has influenced my graduate school journey over the past four years. She has shown me the professional and mentor I hope to become one day. She has always been available anytime I needed to discuss my dissertation and has provided endless amounts of assistance. I would also like to thank Dr. Linda Reddy for supporting me throughout graduate school and the dissertation process.

My gratitude and love is expressed to my friends and family who have supported and encouraged me at each and every step along the way. To my mother, thank you for always supporting me and all of my dreams unconditionally. To my brother, a teacher, who works incredibly hard and tirelessly without always getting the recognition he deserves. To Chris, your love, encouragement, and patience, and the ability to listen to me talk about my dissertation, has helped me make it through graduate school. Finally, I am so grateful to everyone at GSAPP for their support, patience, and guidance throughout this process.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
INTRODUCTION	1
Teacher Attrition	1
Teacher Safety	3
Administrative Support	6
METHODS	9
Participants	9
Procedures	11
Measures	12
Data Analytic Plan	14
RESULTS	16
Descriptive Findings	16
Predicting the Odds of Leaving the School	22
Post-Hoc Analyses	25
DISCUSSION	26
Movers	27
Administrative Support	29
Movers and Threats and Assaults	31
Correlates of Teacher Attrition	33
Correlates of Student Threats and Assaults	34
Limitations	36

Summary and Implications	38
REFERENCES	40
APPENDIX A: Administrative Support Scale	53
APPENDIX B: Descriptive Teacher Attrition Outcomes	54
APPENDIX C: Literature Review	55

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Descriptive Analysis of Teacher Attrition	19
Table 2 Correlations among Variables	20
Table 3 OR for Predictors of Attrition (Combined)	24
Table 4 OR for Predictors of Attrition (Leavers Only)	24
Table 5 OR for Predictors of Attrition (Movers Only)	25

The Impact of Student Threats and Assaults on Teacher Attrition

Introduction

Approximately 50 percent of new teachers leave the teaching profession within the first few years of teaching (Ingersoll & Smith, 2003). Many studies have shown that individual and school characteristics are linked to teacher attrition, such as years of teaching experience and school enrollment size (Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, & Wyckoff, 2009; Guarino, Santibanez, & Daley, 2006; Ingersoll, 2001; Kelly, 2004). Additional studies suggest that teachers' experience of student behavior in schools is related to whether or not they stay in the profession (Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, & Wyckoff, 2009; Ingersoll, 2001). However, less attention is paid to the effects of teacher safety on retention. Violence against teachers is not commonly conceptualized and examined in the empirical literature. Moreover, research tends to focus less on the experience of the school climate from the teachers' point of view.

The purpose of the current study is to examine whether violence against teachers increases the likelihood of teacher attrition, beyond a teacher's individual and school characteristics (e.g., years of teaching experience and school enrollment size). In addition, this study seeks to identify protective factors (i.e., administrative support) that may buffer against the effect of student violence on teacher attrition.

Teacher Attrition

Teachers are leaving their profession at a disproportionately higher rate than other professions (Liu & Meyer, 2005). Of the 3,380,300 public school teachers who were teaching during the 2007-2008 school year, 8% left the profession during the following year (Keigher & Cross, 2010). This rate is even higher among newer teachers – almost

half of all beginning teachers leave the profession after five years of teaching (Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, & Wyckoff, 2009; Ingersoll & Smith, 2003). Schools with higher turnover rates could result in students receiving less experienced teachers. Higher turnover creates instability in the school and classroom which could lead to less effective instruction (Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, & Wyckoff, 2009). Additionally, schools with high turnover are more likely to serve a larger population of low-performing, non-white, and low-income students (Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, & Wyckoff, 2009). This is of concern given that these students might have greatest need for more consistency in their educational experience.

Most research focuses on the relationship between teacher attrition and teacher's personal characteristics (i.e., what types of teachers have higher attrition) or school characteristics (i.e., what types of schools experience higher teacher attrition). At the individual level, teacher attrition is higher among younger and older teachers with middle-aged teachers remaining in the profession (Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, & Wyckoff, 2009; Guarino, Santibanez, & Daley, 2006). Less experienced teachers (i.e., one to three years of teaching) are also found to have higher turnover rates than more experienced teachers (Ingersoll, 2003; Leukens, 2004). Gender has produced inconsistent findings with some studies showing male teachers leave at higher rates and others showing females leave at higher rates (Guarino, Santibanez, & Daley, 2006; Ingersoll, 2001; Kelly, 2004; Kukla-Acevedo, 2009). Salary also impacts attrition. Teachers with low salaries tend to have higher attrition rates than teachers with high salaries (Boe et al., 1997; Ingersoll, 2011; Kelly, 2004)

At the school level, studies have found that smaller schools have higher levels of attrition (Ingersoll, 2001; Kelly, 2004). Conflicting information has been found about urban schools (Allensworth, Ponisciak, & Mazzeo, 2009; Guarino, Santibanez, & Daley, 2006; Smith & Smith, 2006). Researchers have thought that attrition in urban areas is more associated with poverty and teachers' perceptions of violence in the community and schools (Allensworth, Ponisciak, & Mazzeo, 2009; Guarino, Santibanez, & Daley, 2006; Smith & Smith, 2006). Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, and Wyckoff (2009) found that teachers working in schools with a higher proportion of Black and Hispanic students and lower achieving schools have higher rates of attrition. Taken together, individual (e.g., age and experience) and school-level characteristics (e.g., school enrollment size) are associated with teacher attrition. To understand predictors of teacher attrition, researchers need to account for these kinds of characteristics.

Teacher Safety

The Center for the Prevention of School Violence in North Carolina (2002) defines school violence as "any behavior that violates a school's educational mission or climate of respect or jeopardizes the intent of the school to be free of aggression against persons or property, drugs, weapons, disruptions, and disorder." The statement implies that school violence includes aggression and violence directed at teachers. Indicators of School Crime and Safety (2010) reported that during the 2007-2008 school year, approximately 6-10% of teachers were threatened with injury and between 2-5% were physically attacked. Additional reports have cited that in a sample of 2,870 teachers in Virginia, 2.9% of teachers were physically attacked by a student but the attack did not require a doctor, 19.9% reported being threatened by a student, 43.2% received obscene

remarks or gestures from a student, and 83.6% were spoken to in a rude or disrespectful manner by a student (Gregory, Cornell, & Fan, 2012). These researchers found that faculty threats occurred on average 3 per 1,000 students.

Additional school-level characteristics found to be associated with teacher attrition/retention are workplace conditions (Loeb, Darling-Hammond, & Luczak, 2005). Ingersoll and Smith (2003) identified working conditions as including student discipline problems, lack of support from school administration, poor student motivation, and lack of teacher influence over school-wide and classroom decision making. Unsafe working conditions in schools has been linked to teacher safety and negative associated effects (e.g., attrition, fear of the workplace, increased levels of stress, difficulty in teaching, lack of motivation to perform daily work, emotional exhaustion; Alonzo, Lopez-Castedo, & Juste, 2009; Donaldson & Johnson, 2010; Dworkin, Haney, & Telschow, 1998; Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2011).

Research on school violence has also examined psychological impacts on teachers. Teachers have reported that violence in their schools creates more difficulty with teaching and a lack of motivation to perform daily work among the teaching staff (Alonzo, Lopez-Castedo, & Juste, 2009). Teachers exposed to aggression (verbal and physical) experience increased levels of fear and stress (Dworkin, Haney, & Telschow, 1988; Phillips & Lee, 1980). Teachers have also reported that they are concerned about their safety related to receiving verbal threats or attacks (Pietrzak, Petersen, & Speaker, 1998; Williams, Winfree, & Clinton, 1988). A teacher who experiences student aggression on an almost daily basis may have increased levels of stress, mental health concerns, lower levels of job satisfaction, and eventually these teachers may feel burnt

out (Gregory, Cornell, & Fan, 2012). These studies have indicated that violence in the schools and student verbal and physical aggression creates adverse effects for teachers.

Two studies from outside of the United States have focused specifically on the effects of student violence directed at teachers. Galand, Lecocq, and Philippot (2007) looked at a small sample of teachers in Belgium and the effects of student violence on teacher's professional disengagement. They found that student misbehavior, perceived violence, and verbal victimization were all associated with high levels of teacher disengagement. In Norway, Skaalvik and Skaalvik (2011) found that discipline problems in the classroom significantly predicted emotional exhaustion among teachers. Taken together, these studies offer preliminary evidence that lack of safety is associated with negative psychological effects for teachers.

Zeira, Astor, and Benbenishty (2004) examined school violence in Israel and homeroom teachers' perceptions about violence in their schools. The authors examined rates of violence against teachers in addition to teachers' thoughts about leaving the profession due to this violence. Their results revealed that of the 1,521 teachers sampled, 235 teachers considered leaving the profession because of the violence they experienced by students (15.5% of the sampled population). However, violence against teachers is less in Israel than in the United States – between 1996-2000, the average rate of crimes against teachers was 7.9% (Kaufman et al., 2001) while in Israel the reports of student violence against teachers was half that amount during the same time period (Zeira, Astor, & Benbenishty, 2004). These results are not applicable to the U.S. as the rates of violence against teachers are higher. While the Zeira, Astor, and Benbenishty (2004) study offers evidence of teachers considering leaving the profession due to student

directed violence, studies are needed that are more methodologically rigorous in which teacher behavior (i.e., actual departure from the profession) is examined as opposed to teacher thoughts about leaving.

Administrative Support

A number of risk factors contribute to teacher attrition making it essential to identify protective factors that can reduce negative outcomes. Rutter's (1985) definition emphasized the role protective factors have in influencing, modifying, ameliorating, or altering a response to a risk in the environment that predisposes a person to negative outcomes. Other definitions identify protective factors as those which help an individual to cope with extraordinary challenges and promote positive outcomes, while reducing the likelihood of negative consequences (Fergus & Zimmerman, 2005; Spencer et al., 2006). Taken together a protective factor would reduce a teacher's potential to leave the profession due to student threats and assaults by providing a coping mechanism.

Research on stress and coping provides a theoretical framework for determining protective factors. Psychological coping involves processing and appraising the situation as a threat (e.g., verbal and physical assaults) and then using cognitive and behavioral strategies (i.e., help-seeking behavior) to manage the problem and any resulting negative effects (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Coping with stressors affects the impact stress has on psychological well-being (Steptoe, 1991). Social support, one type of help-seeking behavior, has been established to reduce the impact of stressors (Cohen & Willis, 1985; Shumaker & Czajkowski, 1994). Studies involving teachers have determined that social support has reduced burnout and is more influential in buffering the impact of teacher

stress on burnout than other sources of stress (Greenglass et al., 1996, 1997; Pierce & Malloy, 1996).

Lack of administrative support has already been established as a factor that increases teacher attrition (Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, & Wyckoff, 2009). In Boyd et al. (2009) teachers were asked to identify what aspect of their job most influenced their decision to leave or to consider leaving the teaching profession. A little over 15% of teachers reported dissatisfaction with student behavior while over 40% identified dissatisfaction with the administration as the most important factor.

Due to the negative influence lack of administrative support can have on teacher attrition rates, researchers have begun asking how and if administrative support can be used to decrease teacher attrition. Tickle, Chang, and Kim (2011) used data from the Schools and Staffing Survey 2003-2004 and found that administrative support was a significant predictor of job satisfaction and intent to stay in teaching. They suggest that one way to increase teachers' job satisfaction may be realized through perceived administrative support which may in turn reduce attrition. This has been echoed by other scholars (Choi & Tang, 2009; Galand, Lecocq, & Philippot, 2007).

Galand, Lecocq, and Philippot (2007) found that better relationships among colleagues and with school leadership were associated with lower teacher disengagement. They speculate that teachers experience negative emotional and psychological effects from victimization which made lead to their decision to leave, and that school support may serve as a protective factor for psychological well-being and teacher disengagement.

Skaalvik and Skaalvik (2011) found that teachers who had higher levels of job satisfaction and increased feelings of belongingness also had an increased motivation to

remain in the teaching profession. They found that supervisory support was predictive of belonging and the authors further suggest using belonging as a barrier against emotional exhaustion. They suggest that school administrators should "pay more attention to teachers' feeling of belonging, emotional exhaustion, and job satisfaction" (p. 1036). Taken together, these studies are suggestive that support from administration may moderate the effects of teacher victimization. However, as of yet no studies have examined administrative support specifically in relation to teacher safety in the United States.

Summary

In summary, teacher attrition rates are extraordinarily high among new and young teachers (Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, & Wyckoff, 2009; Guarino, Santibanez, & Daley, 2006; Ingersoll, 2003; Leukens, 2004). Previous research indicates that student violence directed at teachers increases teacher stress and impairs teacher emotional wellbeing (Buck, 2006; Galand, Lecocq, & Philippot, 2007; Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2011), and support from administration may reduce these difficulties and foster well-being. The extant literature has shown that student misbehavior increases teacher attrition rates (Boyd et al., 2009; Ingersoll, 2001); however, the effects of more serious student behavior, such as verbal and physical assault on teacher attrition rates are not known. Nor is it known what supportive effects administration might have on keeping teachers who experience victimization. Two studies have examined the impact teacher victimization has on motivation to leave teaching (Galand, Lecocq, & Philippot, 2007; Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2011); however, these studies have not empirically examined attrition linked to victimization rates. Investigating teacher data at multiple time points

over several years allows examination of the link between student threats and assaults and actual attrition.

Hypothesis 1: It is anticipated that teachers who report being threatened or assaulted by students are more likely to leave teaching. Hypothesis 2: It is also anticipated that teachers who are the targets of student threats and assaults and have higher levels of administrative support will be less likely to leave the profession than those who have lower levels of administrative support. In other words, we ask, "Does administrative support moderate the link between student threat and discipline problems (threatening to injure or physically assault a teacher) and teacher attrition (teachers leaving the profession)?" These relationships will hold when taking into account individual teacher characteristics and school characteristics (e.g., age, years of teaching experience, school size, and urbanicity).

Methods

Participants

The data used in this study were collected through the 2007-2008 administration of the Schools and Staffing Survey (SASS) and the 2008-2009 administration of the Teacher Follow-up Survey (TFS). SASS and TFS were conducted by the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) to collect data on public, charter, Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIE), and private schools in the United States. These data were collected on elementary and secondary schools. SASS contains the nation's largest survey of K-12 teachers, schools, districts, and administrators. The SASS 2007-2008 administration consisted of five types of questionnaires: district, principal, school, teacher, and school library media center.

The schools and participants sampled were designed to provide estimates of school characteristics and to balance the samples in SASS. To obtain a representative teacher sample, schools with a larger number of teachers within that school were more likely to be sampled, although schools of all enrollment sizes were sampled. Teachers within schools were sampled to include at least one and no more than 20 teachers per school, with an average of between 3 and 8 teachers per school. The selected samples included approximately 9,800 public schools, 180 BIE schools, and 2,940 private school districts, 9,800 public school principals, 180 BIE school principals, 2,940 private school principals, 47,440 public school teachers, 750 BIE teachers, and 8,180 private school teachers.

The Teacher Follow-up Survey (TFS) was conducted in 2008-2009 and consisted of four questionnaires. Two questionnaires were for first-year public school teachers in the 2007-2008 SASS and two were for the remaining respondents. Within both of those groups, one questionnaire was for current teachers and one for former teachers. The TFS was specifically designed to measure teacher attrition rates. The TFS collected data on teachers who left the teaching profession, teachers who moved to another school and teachers who stayed in the same school as the previous year. All eligible teachers who responded to SASS 2007-2008 were eligible for TFS. Initially, 4,621 public school teachers completed TFS. Participants in this study were all individuals included in the TFS. The variables were analyzed for missing data and 843 individuals were removed from the analysis due to missing responses for the following variables: gender, salary, percentage of racial/ethnic minority students, teacher's race, teacher report of student threats/assaults, and perception of administrative support. Analyses of the remaining

TFS data revealed approximately three-fourths of the teachers were from different schools. In 30% of schools, however, data was nested and nonindependence of report violates assumptions in ordinary least squares analysis. The numbers of nested teachers ranged from 585 schools with 2 sampled individuals to 1 school with 6 sampled individuals (M = 2.23). Therefore, a random generator (www.randomizer.org/form.htm/) was used in the nested schools to randomly select one teacher from each school in TFS. The final sample consisted of 2,904 teachers. Noteworthy was that 702 teachers (24%) left the profession and 565 teachers (20%) moved to another school.

Teacher and school demographics were obtained from teacher reports. Descriptive statistics for the sample of teachers are reported in Table 1. Of the teachers, 73% were female and 27% were male. Based on teacher self-report, the study sample was 85% Caucasian, 7% African-American, 5% Hispanic, and 3% Other (Asian/Pacific Islander, American Indian, and more than 1 race). The average teacher was 38 years old, had 9.5 years of teacher experience, and earned approximately \$42,000. School demographics obtained from the SASS data indicated the schools had an average enrollment size of 500-749 (range 1-49 to 2,000 or more), and approximately 45% of students enrolled in the free and reduced price lunch program (range 0% to 100%), 43% of racial/ethnic minority students (range 0% to 100%). Most schools were categorized as "rural" (n = 930, 32%), but 697 (24%) were "urban" and 785 (27%) were "suburban."

Procedures

The 2007-2008 SASS used a mail-based survey, with telephone and in-person follow-up (Tourkin et al., 2010). Sampled teachers were mailed questionnaires and in-person follow-up was conducted for schools that had not returned the questionnaires. In

addition, schools received reminder phone calls. The first questionnaires were mailed in September 2007 with data collection ending in June 2008. The response rates ranged from 72% for private school principals to 88% for public school districts. In February 2008, all sampled teachers from the 2007-2008 SASS were emailed or mailed the questionnaires (Graham et al., 2011). Four questionnaires comprised the 2008-2009 Teacher Follow-up Survey. Two were for beginning teachers from the 2007-2008 SASS data and two were for the remaining sample. Of those groups, one was for current teachers and one for former teachers. In February 2009, all teachers selected for the TFS sample were mailed an invitation for participation. Teachers also received follow-up telephone calls. Teachers who remained in the profession and teachers who moved to another school completed the current teacher questionnaire while teachers who left the profession completed the former teacher questionnaire. The overall response rate was 87.9% (current teachers 88.2% and former teachers 84.7%).

The SASS data was obtained through the application of a restricted-use data set. Rutgers University Institutional Review Board approved the proposed study and then an application was submitted to the Institute of Education Sciences (IES) of the United States Department of Education. Approval for the proposed study was granted on November 7, 2011.

Measures

Individual-level characteristics. At the individual level, the SASS dataset provided information on variables associated with teacher attrition. Teachers provided responses regarding their age, years of teaching experience, gender, and salary.

School-level characteristics. To examine the factors that account for variation across schools, the SASS dataset provided information on school-level characteristics. Teachers provided responses about the percentage of minority students in their school, school enrollment size, urbanicity, and the percentage of students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch.

Teacher report of student threats and assaults. The SASS dataset offered teacher-reported measures of school climate and teacher attitudes. Specifically, teachers provided their responses regarding student threats and assaults. For example, they answered the following: "Has a student from this school threatened to injure you in the past 12 months?" and "Has a student from this school attacked you in the past 12 months?" Teachers had the option to answer "yes," "no," or "NA." These responses indicated which teachers were threatened or assaulted by students in the past 12 months. Due to the low frequency of affirmative answers, threats and assaults were analyzed by combining them into one variable.

Teacher perception of administrative support. Teachers provided their beliefs about administrative support. Teachers responded to five questions on a 4-point scale ranging from strongly agree to strongly disagree. The administrative support scale includes the following items: (1) The school's administration's behavior toward the staff is supportive and encouraging; (2) My principal enforces school rules for student conduct and backs me up when I need it; (3) The principal knows what kind of school he or she wants and has communicated it to the staff; (4) The teachers at this school like being here; I would describe us as a satisfied group; and (5) I like the way things are run in this school and ranges from strongly disagree (1) to strongly agree (4). Two of the five items

on this measure were used previously in a study by Tickle and Chang (2011), and Tickle and Chang had selected them based on results from their principal component analysis. The appropriate items were reverse scored to provide an administrative support scale. Furthermore, the five items were found to be internally consistent in this study (Cronbach's $\alpha = .86$). The item ratings were averaged for each teacher to provide a perception of administrative support. A higher administrative support score indicated greater belief in administrative support

Teacher attrition. In the Teacher Follow-Up Survey from 2008-2009, participants reported if they had remained in teaching, moved to another school or had left the profession. This measure was designed to measure attrition rates. The present study focused on those teachers who left the teaching profession (leavers), those who moved to another school (movers), and those who stayed in the same school as the previous year (stayers).

This study further examined teacher reports on reasons for leaving their position for descriptive purposes. Teachers indicated the level of importance each reason played in their decision to leave. Items were rated from "not at all important" (1) to "extremely important" (5), such as "Because I was dissatisfied with workplace conditions" and "Because I was dissatisfied with the lack of support I received from the administration from last year's school."

Data Analytic Plan

Primary data analysis involved examining descriptive statistics and correlations among the variables and conducting logistic regression analyses with the attrition outcome. *Leavers* are those teachers who left the profession. *Movers* are those teachers

who moved to a different school. *Stayers* are those teachers who remained in the same school. To provide a complete account of teacher turnover, movers and leavers were combined into one variable. *Combined* are those teachers who either left the profession or moved to a different school. All regression analyses included total years of teaching experience, age, gender, salary, percentage of racial minority students, percentage of students receiving free and reduced price lunch, school enrollment size, and urbanicity to assess whether individual and school-level factors were linked with attrition outcomes.

For the logistic regression analyses, blocks of predictors were entered consecutively. The first block included the covariates of total years of teaching experience, age, gender, and salary as well as school-level factors: percentage of racial minority students, percentage of students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch, school size, and urbanicity. It was important to take these factors into account as covariates to identify whether student threats and assaults explained variance beyond that explained by these well-established individual and school characteristics known to predict attrition. The second block included the measure of student threats and assaults, the third block included the measure of administrative support, and the fourth block included the interaction term (e.g., Threats/Assaults x Administrative Support).

Gender (male, female) was coded dichotomously (0 versus 1). The following variables were treated as continuous scores: total years of teaching experience, age, salary, percentage of racial minority students, and percentage of students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch. The following variables were treated as categorical: school size and urbanicity. School size was grouped according to the following: 1-49, 50-99, 100-149, 150-199, 200-349, 350-499, 500-749, 750-999, 1000-1199, 1200-1499, 1500-1999,

and 2000 or more enrolled students and urbanicity was categorized as: 1 = city, 2 = suburb, 3 = town, and 4 = rural.

Results

Descriptive Findings

Descriptive factors for leaving. Teachers reported reasons for leaving the profession or moving to a different school in the Teacher Follow-up Survey. Out of the original sample of 2,904 teachers, 649 leavers and 463 movers provided a reason for leaving/moving. The most common reason for considering *leaving* was identified as deciding "it was time to retire" (6.8%); 0.6% identified dissatisfaction with workplace conditions as the most important reason and 1.1% indicated student discipline problems. Teachers indicated the level of importance each reason played in their decision to leave. Less than 5% of leavers indicated workplace conditions (e.g., facilities, classroom resources, school safety) and student discipline problems were important in their decision to leave the profession.

Workplace conditions and student discipline problems were not identified as the most important reason for *moving* schools. For movers, less than 4% of teachers indicated workplace conditions or student discipline problems were important in their decision to move schools. The most important reasons teachers indicated in their decision to move schools were related to geographical moving (4.6%) and "other" (4.5%).

Sample descriptives. Leavers tended to be female (75%) and Caucasian (84%). They were older, had more years of teaching experience, and had a higher salary than teachers who remained in the profession (t(2337) = -22.20, p = .00; t(2337) = -17.68, p = .00

.00; t(2337) = -9.36, p = .00, respectively) as shown in Table 1. Movers also tended to be female (75%) and Caucasian (82%). Movers taught in schools with greater percentages of racial/ethnic minority and students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch, t(2200) = -2.36, p = .02 and t(2200) = -2.38, p = .02.

When movers and leavers were considered together as a group, they were predominantly female (75%) and Caucasian (84%) compared to stayers. The movers/leavers had more years of teaching experience (t(2902) = -15.19, p = .00), were older (t(2902) = -11.05, p = .00), and earned a higher salary (t(2902) = -6.70, p = .00), compared to those teachers who remained in the same school. Movers/leavers also tended to teach in smaller schools when compared to stayers, t(2902) = 2.89, p = .004.

Table 2 shows the intercorrelations among variables. Teacher reports of student threats and/or assaults was significantly correlated with teachers who moved to another school and the combined movers/leavers variable (r = .07, p = .00 and r = .04, p = .00); however, the association was not significant when leavers were analyzed separately (r = .02, ns). Leavers, when compared to stayers, tended to have more years of teaching experience, be older, and earn a higher salary (r = .42, p = .00; r = .34, p = .00; r = .19, p = .00, respectively). Leavers also worked in smaller schools and reported lower administrative support (r = -.05, p = .02 and r = -.10, p = .00, respectively). No association was found for leavers with gender, percentage of racial/ethnic minority students, percentage of students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch, urbanicity, teacher reported ethnicity, and teacher reports of student threats/assaults or teacher ethnicity.

In contrast to leavers, movers tended to work in schools with a greater percentage of students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch (r = .05, p = .02) and of racial/ethnic minority students (r = .05, p = .02). Similarly to leavers, movers tended to work in smaller schools (r = .05, p = .03). Movers also reported experiencing student threats/assaults (r = .07, p = .00) and lower administrative support (r = .19, p = .00). None of the individual-level characteristics or teacher race was associated with movers.

The combined (movers/leavers) teacher groups, when compared to stayers, had more years of teaching experience (r = .27, p = .00). They also were older (r = .20, p = .00), more likely female (r = .04, p = .04) and more highly compensated (r = .12, p = .00). The combined group tended to work in smaller schools (r = -.05, p = .00). Furthermore, the combined group tended to report experiences of student threat/assault (r = .04, p = .00), compared to stayers. The combined teacher group also tended to reported lower administrative support (r = -.15, p = .00), compared to stayers. School-level characteristics of percentage of racial/ethnic minority students, percentage of students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch, and urbanicity were not correlated with the combined teacher variable. Teacher-reported administrative support varied slightly among leavers (M = 3.26, SD = .59), movers (M = 3.24, SD = .59) and leavers and movers combined (M = 3.22, SD = .61). Teacher perception of administrative support on a 4-point scale revealed teachers from all the groups mostly agreed that their

The correlations of student threats and assaults revealed that teachers' experience of student threats and assaults over the past 12 months was related to school-level characteristics only. Schools in which teachers reported threat/assault had a greater

percentage of racial/ethnic minority students (r = .10, p = .00), greater percentage of students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch (r = .11, p = .00), had fewer enrolled students (r = -.09, p = .00), and were located in more urban areas (r = -.04, p = .04). Additionally, teachers reporting student threats and assaults also tended to report less administrative support (r = -.19, p = .00). Teachers' experience of student threats and assaults was not related to individual teacher characteristics (i.e., years of teaching experience, age, gender, salary, or teacher's race/ethnicity).

Table 1
Descriptive Analysis of Teacher Attrition

Variable	Leavers	Movers	Combined	Stayers
Total sample size	702	565	1267	1637
Male (%)	174 (24.79)	142 (25.13)	316 (24.94)	465 (28.41)
Female (%)	528 (75.21)	423 (74.87)	951 (75.06)	1172 (71.59)
White (%)	589 (83.90)	461 (81.59)	1050 (83.87)	1383 (84.48)
African American (%)	48 (6.84)	45 (7.96)	93 (7.34)	102 (6.23)
Hispanic (%)	29 (4.13)	36 (6.37)	65 (5.13)	90 (5.50)
Race "Other"	36 (5.13)	23 (4.07)	59 (4.66)	62 (3.79)
(Asian/Pacific Islander,				
American Indian, More				
than one race)				
Years teaching mean	17.21	6.82	12.58	6.38
Age mean	45.50	34.62	40.65	35.26
Salary mean	46172.09	40307.59	43556.90	39948.19
Threatened/assaulted	83 (11.82)	116 (20.53)	199 (15.71)	205 (12.52)
past 12 months (%)				
Total Administrative	3.26	3.23	3.22	3.38
Support Scale mean				

Table 2 Correlations among Variables

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1.	Leavers (1)/Stayers (0)	_	a	1.00**	.42**	.34**	.04	.19**	03	02	05*	01	01	03	.01	.03
2.	Movers (1)/Stayers (0)			1.00**	.02	02	.03	.01	.05*	.05*	05*	03	03	.02	.03	.01
3.	Combined (1)/ Stayers (0)			_	.27**	.20**	.04*	.12**	.01	.02	05**	02	02	01	.02	.02
4.	Years teaching experience					.78**	.04*	.60**	06**	03	04*	04*	.04**	03	03	003
5.	Age					_	.03	.49**	02	.003	05**	04*	.01	01	.01	.01
6.	Gender($1 = \text{female}; 0$						_	.03	.03	.04*	09**	05**	04	.002	.05*	.01
7	= male)								10**	0.4%	1144	2544	02	00	0.1	0.1
7.	Salary							_	.12**	04*	.11**	25**	02	.02	.01	.01
8.	% students of									.52**	.05**	39**	37**	.22**	.27**	.11**
9.	racial/ethnic minority % students enrolled in										26**	06**	23**	.14**	.17**	.06**
9.	free lunch										20	00	23	.14	.1 / ' '	.00
10.												26**	02	.03	02	.03
10. 11	Urbanicity											20	02 .16**	.03 12**	02 10**	.03 04*
12.	White												.10	54**	10 47**	47**
13.	Hispanic												_	54	47**	05*
14.															00	06*
15.															_	00
15.	Islander, American															
	Indian, or More than 1															
	Race															
16.	Threatened/ attacked															
17.	Administrative Support															

^{*}p < .05.
**p < .01.
a. Cannot be computed because at least one of the variables is constant.

Table 2 – Continued Correlations among Variables

		16	17
1.	Leavers (1)/Stayers (0)	.02	10**
2.	Movers (1)/Stayers (0)	.07**	19**
3.	Combined (1)/Stayers (0)	.04*	15**
4.	Years teaching experience	01	05**
5.	Age	.02	04
6.	Gender $(1 = \text{female}; 0 = \text{male})$.01	03
7.	Salary	.02	07**
8.	% students of racial/ethnic minority	.10**	16**
9.	% students enrolled in free lunch	.11**	13**
10.	School size	09**	01
11.	Urbanicity	04*	.06**
12.	White	.002	.04*
13.	Hispanic	03	.01
	Black	.03	04*
15.	Other (Asian/Pacific Islander, American Indian, or More than 1 Race	001	02
16.	Threatened/ attacked		19**
17.	Administrative Support		

^{*}p < .05.

**p < .01.

a. Cannot be computed because at least one of the variables is constant.

Predicting the Odds of Leaving the School

Table 3 presents the effects of individual and school-level characteristics in the logistic regression model that predicts attrition. The odds ratio (OR) associated with each variable and the 95% confidence intervals for each OR represent the effect of an individual predictor (e.g., age) on the dependent variable (e.g., attrition). If an OR is larger (or smaller) than 1.00, it represents the increase (or decrease) of the chance of a teacher leaving the profession for a unit increase (or decrease) on the predictor's scale. If the OR for a predictor variable is statistically different from 1.00, the 95% confidence interval does not contain 1.00.

Results showed for every one unit higher of teaching experience, teachers were 1.07 times more likely to leave/move the school (OR = 1.07, p = .00). A larger school size was associated with a lower chance of leaving/moving (OR = .96, p = .03). When teachers reported higher administrative support, they tended to have a lower chance of leaving/moving the school (OR = .63, p = .00). Teachers who earned more tended to have a greater chance of leaving/moving (OR = 1.00, p = .003). The highest OR for movers/leavers was student threats/assaults with a teacher who experienced student threats/assaults close to one and a third times more likely to move to another school or leave the profession (OR = 1.3, p = .02). Nonsignificant findings were found for age, gender, percentage of minority students, percentage of students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch, urbanicity, and the interaction term (Administrative Support X Threats/assaults).

When leavers were analyzed separately (Table 4), teachers were 1.08 times more likely to leave the profession with one unit higher of teaching experience (OR = 1.08, p =

.00). A teacher with a one unit higher administrative support scale was .73 times less likely to leave the profession (OR = 0.73, p = .00). Age, gender, percentage of minority students, percentage of students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch, school enrollment size, student threats/assaults, and the interaction (Administrative Support X Threats/assaults) term were all nonsignificant.

Movers were 1.02 times more likely to move to another school with one unit higher of teaching experience (OR = 1.02, p = .01; Table 5). Older teachers were less likely to move to another school (OR = .98, p = .01) and teachers from larger schools were less likely to move (OR = .95, p = .04). When teachers reported higher administrative support, they tended to have a lower chance of moving to another school (OR = .54, p = .00). Results revealed the highest OR for movers were student threats and assaults. A teacher who experienced student threats and/or assaults was close to one and a half times (OR = 1.44, p = .01) more likely to move to another school. Gender, salary, percentage of minority students, percentage of students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch, and the interaction term were nonsignificant. For leavers, movers, and the combined group, the interaction term (Administrative Support X Threats/Assaults) was nonsignficant. Administrative support was not found to moderate the effect of threats/assaults on teacher attrition (Tables 3-5).

Table 3 OR for Predictors of Attrition (Combined)

		N = 2904	
Variables ^a	OR	95% CI	
Years teaching experience	1.066*	(1.053-1.080)	
Age	.994	(.985-1.004)	
Gender	1.107	(.929-1.319)	
Salary	1.000*	(1.000-1.000)	
%minorities	1.002	(1.000-1.005)	
% free lunch	.999	(.996-1.003)	
School size	.962*	(.929996)	
Urbanicity	.964	(.895-1.040)	
Threats/assaults	1.304*	(1.041-1.632)	
Admin support	.625*	(.551709)	
Interaction	.972	(.708-1.333)	

Note. OR = odds ratio; CI = confidence interval.

OR for Predictors of Attrition (Leavers Only)

		N = 2339	
Variables ^a	OR	95% CI	
Years teaching experience	1.084*	(1.068-1.100)	
Age	1.008	(.996-1.020)	
Gender	1.120	(.893-1.405)	
Salary	1.000*	(1.000-1.000)	
%minorities	1.003	(.999-1.006)	
%free lunch	.996	(.992-1.001)	
School size	.970	(.927-1.015)	
Urbanicity	.984	(.893-1.085)	
Threats/assaults	1.146	(.856-1.534)	
Admin support	.728*	(.622852)	
Interaction ⁶	1.033	(.688-1.549)	

Note. OR = odds ratio; CI = confidence interval.

^{*}p < .05.

a. Attrition coded as Leavers/Movers = 1 and Stayers = 0
b. Interaction term = Administrative support X threat/assaults

^{*}p < .05.

a. Attrition coded as Leavers = 1 and Stayers = 0
b. Interaction term = Administrative support X threat/assaults

Table 5
OR for Predictors of Attrition (Movers Only)

		N = 2202	
Variables ^a	OR	95% CI	
Years teaching experience	1.022*	(1.004-1.040)	
Age	.983*	(.971995)	
Gender	1.121	(.898-1.398)	
Salary	1.000	(1.000-1.000)	
%minorities	1.002	(.998-1.006)	
%free lunch	1.002	(.997-1.006)	
School size	.954*	(.913997)	
Urbanicity	.932	(.848-1.025)	
Threats/assaults	1.435*	(1.096-1.878)	
Admin support	.542*	(.463633)	
Interaction	1.016	(.700-1.476)	

Note. OR = odds ratio; CI = confidence interval.

Post-hoc Analyses

In the original data collection, in some schools teachers were "nested" in schools (e.g., up to 6 teachers per school). Given that teacher attrition is a dichotomous variable (i.e., remained in the profession or exited from the profession) hierarchical general linear modeling (HGLM) was conducted to account for the nested data. Nested data occurred in 32% of the original sample: Six-hundred and three schools had 2 teachers from the same school, 110 schools had 3 teachers from the same school, 23 schools had 4 teachers from the same school, 3 schools had 5 teachers from the same school, and 1 school had 6 teachers. Having multiple teachers in schools allowed for the use of a mean of administrative support across teachers. A mean across teachers from the same school reflects the shared experience of administrative support in the school. For teacher attrition, Level-1 control variables included individual characteristics (e.g., sex, age, and years of teaching experience) and Level-2 control variables included school characteristics (e.g., urbanicity, school enrollment size, and administrative support). Two

^{*}p < .05.

a. Attrition coded as Movers = 1 and Stayers = 0

^{b.} Interaction term = Administrative support X threat/assaults

sets of HGLM were conducted. The first set examined the threats and assaults variable as a predictor of movers versus stayers. The second set used HGLM to examine threat and assault as a predictor of leavers versus stayers. When accounting for nesting of teachers in schools, student threats and assaults was associated with moving ($\beta = 0.59$, p = 0.002) and administrative support aggregated as a mean at the school level was associated with moving ($\beta = -.36$, p = 0.004). In other words those who perceived more administrative support were less likely to move. Administrative support did not moderate the link between threats/assaults and teachers moving as shown through the nonsignificant cross-level interaction (i.e., administrative support at level 2 did not predict the slope of threat/assault at level 1). This lack of moderation corroborates the previously reported logistic regression findings for which nesting was removed through a random selection of teachers. When accounting for nesting of teachers in schools, student threats and assaults was not associated with leaving.

Discussion

The current study provided insights into teacher attrition. It found that administrators may need to consider two different groups of teachers who leave their schools: a) movers – teachers who leave one school for another school and b) leavers – teachers who leave the profession entirely. Only a small percentage of teachers who left the profession listed workplace conditions or student discipline as one of the important reasons for leaving. This was corroborated in statistical analyses in which report of threats/assaults did not increase the probability of a teacher leaving the profession. Additionally, teachers' self-reported rationale for leaving suggests that a majority of teachers left due to retirement. A more concerning trend arose for those teachers who

moved from one school to another. The experience of threats/assaults was linked to a greater likelihood of their moving schools. Movers, on average, had 7 years of teaching experience compared to the 17 years of experience of leavers. This suggests that movers had many potentially viable years of teaching left in their careers and their move to another school could be disruptive to students and fellow teachers alike.

At the same time, the leavers and movers teacher groups had some commonalities, as shown in the study findings. The statistical analyses demonstrated that perceived administrative support was linked to both a) teachers exiting the profession and b) teachers moving schools. Specifically, more support was associated with a lower chance of leaving or moving. This finding held above and beyond the effects of individual teacher characteristics (e.g., gender and years of teaching experience) and school demographics (e.g., school size and urbanicity). Unexpectedly, administrative support did not moderate the effects of student threat/assault on teacher attrition.

Also noteworthy was that individual teacher and school characteristics were associated with teacher reports of threats and assaults. Fewer years of teaching experience, being older, being female, and earning a higher salary were associated with reports of threats and assaults as well as teaching in smaller and more urban schools. These results are important to examine when identifying prevention, intervention, and postvention strategies related to teachers' experience of student threats and assaults.

Movers

The study findings related to the movers group offers compelling considerations for administrators. Teachers' leaving one building for another building is particularly important with regard to the needs of high poverty schools. Results revealed that

teachers were more likely to move from schools that had higher percentages of low income and ethnic minority students. Many of these movers may be highly capable teachers, which would result in a "brain drain" from high needs schools. Greater instability in the teaching force may be related to lower consistency and quality in classroom instruction for low income students of color. Students in grade levels with higher teacher turnover score lower in both English language arts and math, particularly in schools with more low-performing and Black students (Ronfeldt, Loeb, & Wyckoff, 2012). As a result, administrators need to seriously consider what factors are increasing or reducing the likelihood a teacher decides to move to another school.

Overall, this study found that movers themselves did not identify workplace conditions or student discipline problems as a reason for changing schools. Rather, they attributed the most important reason for moving schools to geographical relocation.

These results reveal that additional inquiry is needed given the statistical analyses based on a longitudinal design found that the experience of student threats and assaults was related to a teacher's decision to move a year later. This begs the questions: Are movers not accurately reporting what drives their decision to move? Or, are movers not aware of the impact that student threats/assaults have on their decision to move?

The current study contributes new knowledge about why some teachers move (i.e., student threat/assault), yet additional research is needed in this area. Little is known about why teachers move and how to prevent highly effective teachers from moving. Identifying specific ways to address movers' experiences is vital to addressing the impact of student threats/assaults. Movers may be seeking reduction in stress or improved support. Current practices to reduce attrition do not take into account those teachers who

transfer to other schools (Miner, 2008). Future research should identify ways to incentivize highly effective teachers from moving to another school, especially schools in high poverty areas. The greatest number of children who could benefit from effective teachers is enrolled in low-income schools which disproportionately have a higher percentage of new and inexperienced teachers.

Administrative Support

The current study examined the role of administrative support in preventing teacher attrition. In a longitudinal design following teachers over one year, the study showed that positive perceptions of administrative support was associated with a lower chance of moving one year later. This finding held above and beyond the sociodemographic characteristics of schools. The strength of the finding rests in the study's longitudinal design, in that administrative support predicts attrition a year later. These findings build on previous research that has documented a similar phenomenon in concurrent research designs—namely, the influence of administrators on teacher retention decisions during the same school year (Boyd et al., 2009; Guarino, Santibanez, & Daley, 2006).

Different types of social support may help explain why administrative support is related to decreasing attrition. The current study measured administrative support by examining the following questions: (1) The school's administration's behavior toward the staff is supportive and encouraging; (2) My principal enforces school rules for student conduct and backs me up when I need it; (3) The principal knows what kind of school he or she wants and has communicated it to the staff; (4) The teachers at this school like being here; I would describe us as a satisfied group; and (5) I like the way things are run

in this school. The administrative support scale included a range of constructs related to social support, authoritative discipline, and communication. This range suggests administrators may need to be multi-faceted in how they support teachers. This would include communicating a strong vision, consistently implementing rules, and fostering collegial support.

Teachers may go to administrators for different types of support. Administration may provide this support by listening and providing empathy (Beehr & McGrath, 1992; Caplan, Cobb, French, Harrison, & Pinneau, 1975; Kaufmann & Beehr, 1986; McIntosh, 1991) or through communication. Administration with an open style of communication may strengthen teachers' belief that administrators will provide their support as well as back teachers up when needed. Administrative support that covers multiple areas may be more effective in increasing teacher retention rates.

The present study also examined the role of administrative support in moderating the effects of student threats/assaults. While this study confirmed the role of administrative support in reducing teacher attrition, results indicated that support from administration did not provide teachers with a protective barrier against the experience of student threats/assaults. Schools are systems; as such multiple influences interact and affect teachers. Administrative support alone may not be enough to buffer teachers from the negative effects of threats and assaults.

While support from administration can reduce teacher attrition, the organization of the school as a community may serve as a more comprehensive protective function for teachers who experience student threats and assaults. Payne, Gottfredson, and Gottfredson (2003) described communal school organization as indicated by supportive

relationships among teachers, administrators, and students, a common set of goals and norms, and a sense of collaboration and involvement. Schools that are more communally organized have lower levels of teacher victimization and student delinquency. This emphasizes the role that school climate may have in reducing teacher attrition.

Different types of support are also important to consider as potential protective factors. Support from colleagues may provide a buffering function that support from administration cannot. Connectedness to colleagues has been examined as a way to reduce attrition and to aid in creating a positive and supportive school community (Shernoff et al., 2012; Shernoff et al., 2011), and may be one possible mechanism for protecting teachers from the effects of student threats and assaults. Teachers may feel that their administration supports them, communicates well with them, and enforces school rules; however, when they experience student threats and assaults they may go to colleagues for support. Additionally, it is possible that teachers cope with these experiences through support from family and friends outside of the school.

Movers and Threats and Assaults

Teachers were more likely to move schools if they reported being threatened or assaulted by students. This highlights the need to consider teachers' experience of safety in the school. It is important to identify what can be done to help teachers prevent the experience of threat and assault in the first place, to help restore relationships after such an experience, to help administrators respond in a way that can help reinstate a sense of belonging and safety, and to develop mandated follow-up into policy for both teachers and students.

Although this study does not identify the specific mechanism by which movers are impacted by student threats and assaults, it provides guidance on where to look. Understanding teachers' decisions to move, specifically for those who experience student threats and assaults, may help prevent these teachers from moving. It is possible that some teachers may feel less connected to their school after they experience threat or assault, leading to increased turnover. In other words, movers may have a decreased sense of belongingness to the school which increases their desire to leave the school (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2011). Although teachers may identify liking the way the school is run, they may not feel connected to the staff, students, or community.

Another possible explanation to help make sense of movers' experience of student threats and assaults is related to defensive mechanisms. Teachers may use defensiveness to minimize the impact student threats/assaults have on their decision to leave. More specifically, movers may use defensive responses to protect their self-worth; however, these same biases may also shield movers from understanding the impact of potentially threatening information (i.e., student threats and assaults; Lord, Ross, & Lepper, 1979). As identified in the present study, geographical relocation was listed as the most common reason for moving. Teachers may offer a geographical rationale for needing to move, in order to deflect any critique that they moved because they were unable to manage student discipline problems which resulted in student aggression toward them.

Future research should identify the specific type of administrative support that is linked to reduced attrition rates, especially for those teachers who move to other schools as a result of student threats and assaults. Moreover, additional research is needed on effective ways administrators can respond after threats and assaults. A future qualitative

study might help determine what kind of help-seeking teachers display after a threat/assault and how colleagues and administration respond. A closer, more microlevel analysis might identify supportive responses that help teachers heal, feel safe, and stay motivated to remain in their school.

Correlates of Teacher Attrition

The current study identified correlates of teacher attrition. Individual teacher characteristics associated with increased attrition were more years of teaching experience, being older, being female, and earning more money. School-level factors associated with higher attrition rates were school size. Specifically, teachers in smaller schools tended to leave the profession more often.

Many of the study's findings confirm previous research. As was found in this study, previous research has identified that attrition is higher among older teachers (Boyd et al., 2009). Inconsistent findings have been noted for gender (Borman & Dowling, 2008) and this study found that women have higher attrition rates. Confirmed in this study, smaller schools have been associated with higher levels of attrition (Ingersoll, 2001; Kelly, 2004). The speculation has been that larger schools allow for greater collegial connections which small schools do not offer due to the reduced number of teachers.

Some of the study's findings are inconsistent with previous research. Less experienced teachers have been found to have higher turnover rates (Ingersoll, 2001; Leukens, 2004) whereas the current study found that more years of teaching experience was associated with increased attrition, specifically for leavers. Additionally, Ingersoll (2001) cited teacher attrition as being higher in schools with low salaries while the

current study found that higher salary was a predictor of leavers. The predictive power of teachers' experience and salary may be explained by leavers reporting retirement as the primary factor in leaving the profession. Teachers at the retirement age would have worked longer, thereby having more years of experience and earning higher salaries.

Adding to the mixed findings about urban schools (Allensworth, Ponisciak, & Mazzeo, 2009; Guarino, Santibanez, & Daley, 2006; Smith & Smith, 2006), this study found no association between urbanicity and attrition rates. This national sample may suggest attrition in largely urban schools should not be of special concern. Previous research has shown that attrition may be more related to poverty (Borman & Dowling, 2008). Different findings come to light when analyzing "leavers" and "movers" separately. Teachers tended to move from schools with a higher percentage of racial/ethnic minority students and higher percentage of students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch. These links were not was found for leavers. In combination with previous research, these findings suggest that predictors of attrition continue to vary across studies.

Correlates of Student Threats and Assaults

The present study examined the association between teacher-reported student threats/assaults and individual teacher and school-level characteristics. No statistically significant association was found for any of the correlated individual-level factors (e.g., gender, age, and ethnicity) whereas all school-level factors were found to be significant. Schools with a larger percentage of racial/ethnic minority students and students enrolled in free and reduced price lunch, smaller student enrollment size, and more urban schools were associated with more experiences of student threats and assaults.

These findings raise questions about why school sociodemographic characteristics are correlates of threat/assaults. One possible explanation relates to how schools with more "at-risk" students tend to employ teachers who enter the profession with less preparation (Crosby, 1999). It is possible that these teachers lack skills in relationship building and classroom management. Teachers who have stronger relationships with their students tend to earn respect from their students and engage them in academics (Astor, Meyer, & Behre, 1999; Gregory & Ripski, 2009).

Another possible explanation of the link between sociodemographic risk and threat/assault is that students in higher poverty schools are more exposed to violence and may transfer that behavior into school. Community violence exposure increases aggressive cognitions and aggressive behavior during first through sixth grade (Guerra, Huesmann, & Spindler, 2003). Furthermore, students who witnessed more violence also showed lower levels of academic achievement over time (Henrich et al., 2004). Teachers then experience more aggressive behavior in low achieving schools and increased pressure for their students to improve academic achievement due to state and federal standards (e.g., No Child Left Behind).

In addition, greater "social distance" may exist between the typically White, middle class, teachers and their students in diverse schools with higher sociodemographic risk. In these schools, teachers may be more afraid and less able to connect with students. Teachers working in urban schools have noted being fearful because of their belief that the violence in the community would occur in the school environment and thus, threaten their safety (Smith & Smith, 2006). The respondents in the Smith and Smith (2006) study voiced feeling distrustful of those in their school's community, which

prevented them from developing relationships with students and parents. This distance between teachers and students also resulted in worse adaptive functioning for students as exposure to community violence increased (Ozer & Weinstein, 2004). Future teachers should receive training on developing teacher-student relationships, perhaps through culturally responsive teaching which reflects development of personal relationships with students, creation of caring communities, establishment of business-like learning environments, use of culturally and ethnically congruent communication processes, demonstrations of assertiveness, and utilization of clearly stated and enforced expectations (Brown, 2004). Teachers who utilize this approach rely on their strong relationships with students to build on trust rather than fear or punishment to maintain a positive and cooperative classroom environment.

Finally, preventative interventions may be more effective if they focus on the whole school rather than individual teacher characteristics. Currently, school level prevention efforts that directly address violence directed toward teachers do not exist (Espelage et al., 2013). School and community level prevention and intervention, specifically for teachers who experience student threats and assaults, warrants further investigation.

Limitations

The present study has several limitations that should be considered. This study was unable to consider the effects of "nesting" to a full extent due to the limited number of nested teachers. More nesting would help provide a more reliable measure of administrative support. Additionally, other sources that influence teacher attrition, such as behavior management and school climate, could not be accounted for due to the

limited questions asked in the SASS data. This study did not examine how factors, such as behavior management skills, may play a role in how teachers respond to experiences of student threats and assaults. Effective classroom management, including positive behavior support, has been found to reduce student discipline problems and prevent the development of conduct disorders (Luiselli, Putnam, Handler, & Feinberg, 2005; Webster-Stratton, Reid, & Stoolmiller, 2008). That said the impact of classroom behavior management skills has not been examined in relation to teachers' experiences of student threats and assaults. Furthermore, we do not know or have data on whether highly effective teachers are the ones moving due to student threats/assaults. It may be the case that less effective teachers are the targets and some principals may be pleased they decide to move. An area of future research would examine the teaching effectiveness of those who experience student aggression.

Future researchers would greatly extend the present study by exploring whether movers are more likely to become leavers or stayers later in their career. Assessing how these negative experiences with students affect teachers over time is important to examine. Relevant questions include, "Once a teacher moves, might he or she feel less connected to a new school and less stable in their profession?" "What role does this connection play in moderating the effects of student threats and assaults?"

The longitudinal nature of this study provided new information on teacher attrition. While this was a strength of the current study, the limitations of correlational design should be noted. The study cannot claim that school-level characteristics cause student threat and assaults as causal inference would require an experimental design.

Summary and Implications

The study findings contribute a new understanding regarding the impact of student threats and assaults. The experience of student threats and assaults tends to increase teacher attrition rates for movers who relocate from their current school for another. Given that teacher turnover harms student achievement, understanding factors that decrease turnover could point toward strategies that ultimately help students.

Another important implication of the current study includes: Teachers leaving the profession may not be as concerning as those teachers who move to another school. This is especially important to consider in relation to high poverty schools. High risk students experience greater rates of teacher turnover and are potentially those most impacted by movers. Thus, teacher turnover is an issue of educational equity. The findings also suggest teacher safety is paramount. Teachers need to experience the workplace in a safe and welcoming manner while also retaining high quality teachers in low income schools. As such, both the welfare of the students and of the teachers needs to be considered together.

Administrators should consider how to prevent the experience of student threats and assaults perhaps by addressing school climate. What can administrators do to help restore relationships after teachers experience student threats and assaults? Future research should consider mechanisms of administrative support to understand how support from administration reduces attrition as well as to identify potential protective factors in moderating the effects of student threats and assaults. Additionally, creating a positive climate in the classroom may help restore student-teacher relationships.

Administrators may also want to consider ways to respond to teacher reports of student threats and assaults to reinstate a sense of belonging and safety. De-briefing and meeting with the school psychologist or other mental health workers in the school may provide teachers with additional supports thereby allowing teachers an opportunity to process the negative interaction. Additionally, the School Crisis Team could work with the administration to create mandated policies for both teachers and students who are victims of serious infractions in the school setting. These policies would provide specific ways to respond to student threats/assaults with the goal to reduce the likelihood teachers would move to another school.

References

- Allensworth, E., Ponisciak, S., & Mazzeo, C. (2009). *The school teachers who leave:*Teacher mobility in Chicago Public Schools. Chicago, IL: Consortium on Chicago School Research.
- Aiken, L. S. & West, S. G. (1991). Multiple Regression: Testing and interpreting interactions. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Alonso, J.D., Lopez-Castedo, A., & Juste, M.P. (2009). School violence: Evaluation and proposal of teaching staff. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *109*, 401-406.
- Astor, R.A., Behre, W.J., Wallace, J.M., & Fravil, K.A. (1998). School social workers and school violence: Personal safety, training, and violence programs. *Social Work*, *43*(3), 223-232.
- Astor, R.A., Meyer, H.A., & Behre, W.J. (1999). Unowned places and times: Maps and interviews about violence in high schools. *American Educational Research Journal*, 36(1), 3-42. doi:10.2307/1163504.
- Banicky, L. & Noble, A. (2001). Detours on the Road to Reform: When Standards Take a

 Back Seat to Testing. Newark, DE: University of Delaware College of Human

 Resources, Education, & Public Policy.
- Beehr, T. A. & McGrath, J. E. (1992). Social support, occupational stress and anxiety.

 Anxiety, Stress, and Coping, 5, 1-19.
- Berry, B., Smylie, M., & Fuller, E. (2008). Understanding teacher working conditions: A review and look to the future. Center for Teaching Quality. Retrieved June 27, 2011 from http://www.teachingquality.org/pdfs/TWC2_Nov08.pdf.

- Boe, E.E., Bobbitt, S.A., Cook, L.H., Whitener, S.D., & Weber, A.L. (1997). Why didst thou go? Predictors of retention, transfer, and attrition of special and general education teachers from a national perspective. *The Journal of Special Education*. 30(4), 390-411.
- Borman, G. D. & Dowling, N. M. (2008). Teacher attrition and retention: A metaanalytic and narrative review of the research. *Review of Educational Research*, 78(3), 376-409.
- Boyd, D., Lankford, H., Loeb, S. & Wyckoff, J. (2005). Explaining the short careers of high-achieving teachers in schools with low-performing students. *American Economic Review*, 95(2), 166-171.
- Boyd, D., Grossman, P., Ing, M., Lankford, H., & Wyckoff, J. (2009). The influence of school administration on teacher retention decisions. Retrieved June 27, 2011 from http://www.teacherpolicyresearch.org/portals/1/pdfs/TeacherRetentionAdministr ators22May2009.pdf.
- Boyd, D., Grossman, P., Lankford, H., Loeb, S., & Wyckoff, J. (2009). Who Leaves?

 Teacher attrition and student achievement. National Center for Analysis of

 Longitudinal Data in Education Research. Working Paper 23. Retrieved June 27,

 2011 from

 http://www.teacherpolicyresearch.org/portals/1/pdfs/Do%20Effective%20Teachers%20Leave.pdf.
- Brown, D.F. (2004). Urban teachers' professed classroom management strategies:

 Reflections of culturally responsive teaching. *Urban Education*, 39(3), 266-289.

- Buck, C.A. (2006). The effects of direct and indirect experiences with school crime and violence on high school teacher burnout. Psychology Dissertations. Paper 15.

 Retrieved June 5, 2011 from http://digitalarchive.gsu.edu.
- Caplan, R. D., Cobb, S., French, J. R. P., Jr., Harrison, R. V., & Pinneau, S. R., Jr. (1975). *Job demands and worker health*. Ann Arbor: Institute for Social Research, University of Michigan.
- Center for the Prevention of School Violence (2002). *Just what is "school violence"?*Retrieved June 28, 2011 from

 http://www.ncdjjdp.org/cpsv/pdf_files/newsbrief5_02.pdf.
- Choi, P.L. & Tang, S.Y.F. (2009). Teacher commitment trends: Cases of Hong Kong teachers from 1997-2007. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25(5), 767-777.
- Cohen, S. & Wills, T.A. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychology Bulletin*, 98, 310-357.
- Crosby, E. A. (1999). Urban schools forced to fail. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 81(4), 298-303.
- Daniels, J.A., Bradley, M.C., & Hays, M. (2007). The impact of school violence on school personnel: Implications for psychologists. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, *38*(6), 652-659, doi:10.1037/0735-7028.38.6.652.
- Donaldson, M.L., & Johnson, S. (2010). The price of misassignment: The role of teaching assignments in Teach for America teachers' exit from low-income schools and the teaching profession. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 32(2), 299-323.

- Dworkin, A.G., Haney, C.A., & Telschow, R.L. (1988). Fear, victimization, and stress among urban public school teachers. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 9(2), 159-171.
- Dworkin, A.G., Saha, L.J., & Hill, A.N. (2003). Teacher burnout and perceptions of a democratic social environment. *International Education Journal*, 4(2), 108-120.
- Espelage, D., Anderman, E.M., Brown, V.E., Jones, A., Lane, K.L., McMahon, S.D., Reddy, L.A., & Reynolds, C.R. (2013). Understanding and preventing violence directed against teachers: Recommendations for a national research, practice, and policy agenda. *American Psychological Association*, 68(2), 75-87. doi: 10.1037/a0031307
- Fergus, S. & Zimmerman, M. A. (2005). Adolescent resilience: A framework for understanding healthy development in the face of risk. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 26, 399–419.
- Fleming, R., Baum, A., & Singer, J.E. (1984). Toward an integrative approach to the study of stress. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 46(4), 939-949.
- Futernick, K. (2007). A possible dream: Retaining California teachers so all students learn. Sacramento: California State University. Retrieved July 1, 2011 from http://www.calstate.edu/teacherquality/documents/possible_dream_exec.pdf.
- Galand, B., Lecocq, C., & Phillippot, P. (2007). School violence and teacher professional disengagement. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 77, 465-477.
- Gottfredson, G. D. & Gottfredson, D. C. (1985). *Victimization in Schools*. New York: Plenum.

- Gottfredson, G.D., Gottfredson, D.C., Czeh, E.R., Cantor, D., Crosse, S.B., & Westat, I.H. (2000). Chapter 2: The Nature of Problem Behavior in Schools. *National Study of Delinquency Prevention in Schools*. Gottfredson Associates, Inc: Elicott City, Maryland.
- Gottfredson, G.D., Gottfredson, D.C., Payne, A.A., & Gottfredson, N.C. (2005). School climate predictors of school disorder: Results from a national study of delinquency prevention in schools. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 42(4), 412-444.
- Graham, S., Parmer, R., Chambers, L., Tourkin, S., Lyter, D.M., & Cross, F. (2011).

 Documentation for the 2008-09 teacher follow-up survey. *National Center for Education Statistics*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education.
- Gregory, A., Cornell, D., & Fan, X. (2012). Teacher safety and authoritative school climate in high schools. *American Journal of Education*, 118(4), 401-425.
- Greenglass, E.R., Burke, R.J., & Konarksi, R. (1997). The impact of social support on the development of burnout in teachers: Examination of a model. *Work & Stress*, 11, 267-278.
- Greenglass, E., Fiksenbaum, L., & Burke, R.J. (1996). Components of social support, buffering effects and burnout: Implications for psychological functioning.

 Anxiety, Stress & Coping, 9, 185-197.
- Griffith, J., Steptoe, A., & Cropley, M. (1999). An investigation of coping strategies associated with job stress in teachers. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 69, 517-531.

- Guarino, C.M., Santibanez, L., & Daley, G.A. (2006). Teacher recruitment and retention:

 A review of the recent empirical literature. *Review of Educational Research*,

 76(2), 173-208.
- Guerra, N.G., Huesmann, L.R., & Spindler, A. (2003). Community violence exposure, social cognition, and aggression among urban elementary school children. *Child Development*, 74(5), 1561-1576.
- Henke, R.R., Zahn, L., & Carroll, C.D. (2001). Attrition of new teachers among recent college graduates: Comparing occupational stability among 1992-93 graduates who taught and those who work in other occupations. *Education Statistics Quarterly*, 3(2), 69-79.
- Henrich, C.C., Schwab-Stone, M., Fanti, K., Jones, S.M., & Ruchkin, V. (2004). The association of community violence exposure with middle-school achievement.

 *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology, 25(3), 327-348.
- Hirsch, E., Koppich, J., & Knapp, M. (2001). Revisiting what states are doing to improve the quality of teaching: An update on patterns and trends. Seattle, WA: Center for the Study of Teaching and Policy, University of Washington. Available: www.ctpweb.org.
- Ingersoll, R. (2001). Teacher turnover and teacher shortages: An organizational analysis.

 *American Educational Research Journal, 38(3), 499-534.
- Ingersoll, R. M. (2002). The teacher shortage: A case of wrong diagnosis and wrong prescription. *NASSP Bulletin*, 86(631), 16–30. Available: www.principals.org/news/bltn_teachshort0602.html.

- Ingersoll, R. M. (2003). Who controls teachers' work? Power and accountability in America's schools. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Ingersoll, R.M. & Smith, T.M. (2003). The wrong solution to the teacher shortage.

 Reeping Good Teachers, 60(8), 30-33.
- Johnson, S.M., Berg, J.H., & Donaldson, M.L. (2005). Who stays in teaching and why: A review of the literature on teacher retention. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Graduate School of Education. Retrieved June 27, 2011 from http://assets.aarp.org/www.aarp.org_/articles/NRTA/Harvard_report.pdf.
- Kaiser, A. & Cross, F. (2007). Beginning teacher attrition and mobility: Results from the first through third waves of the 2007-2008 beginning teacher longitudinal study.
 National Center for Education Statistics. U.S. Department of Education.
 Retrieved June 27, 2011 from http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2011/2011318.pdf.
- Karcher, M.J. (2002). The cycle of violence and disconnection among rural middle school students: Teacher disconnection as a consequence of violence. *Journal of School Violence*, 1(1), 35-51.
- Kaufmann, G. M. & Beehr, T. A. (1986). Interactions between job stressors and social support: Some counterintuitive results. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71, 522-526.
- Kaufman, P., Chen, X., Choy, S.P., Peter, K., Ruddy, S.A., Miller, A.K., Fleury, J.K., Chandler, K., Planty, M., & Rand, M.R. (2001). *Indicators of School Crime and Safety: 2001*. Washington, DC: US Department of Education and Justice. NCES 2002-112/NCJ-190075. Retrieved June 30, 2011 from http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2002/2002113a.pdf.

- Keigher, A. & Cross, F. (2010). Teacher attrition and mobility: Results from the 2008-09

 Teacher Follow-Up Survey. National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved

 June 30, 2011 from http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2010/2010353.pdf.
- Kelly, S. (2004). An event history analysis of teacher attrition: Salary, teacher tracking, and socially disadvantaged schools. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 72(3), 195-220.
- Kopp, W. (1992). Reforming schools of education will not be enough. *Yale Law and Policy Review*, 10, 58-68.
- Kukla-Acevedo, S. (2009). Leavers, movers, and stayers: The role of workplace conditions in teacher mobility decisions. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 443-452.
- Ladd, H. (2009). *Teachers' perceptions of their working conditions: How predictive of policy-relevant outcomes*. National Center for Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Education. Research Working Paper 33. Washington, DC: CALDER. http://www.urban.org/uploadedpdf/1001440-Teachers-Perceptions.pdf
- Lazarus, R.S. & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York: Springer.
- Lazarus, R.S. (1993). From psychological stress to the emotions: A history of changing outlooks. *Annual Reviews Psychology*, 44, 1-21.
- Liu, X.S. & Meyer, J.P. (2005). Teachers' perceptions of their jobs: A multilevel analysis of the teacher follow-up survey for 1994-95. *Teachers College Record*, 107(5), 985-1003.

- Loeb, S., Darling-Hammond, L., & Luczak, J. (2005). How teaching conditions predict teacher turnover in California schools. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 80(3), 44-70.
- Lord, C.G., Ross, L., & Lepper, M.R. (1979). Biased assimilation and attitude polarization: The effects of prior theories on subsequently considered evidence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 37, 2098-2109.
- Luekens, M. T., Lyter, D. M., Fox, E. E., & Chandler, K. (2004). *Teacher attrition and mobility: Results from the teacher follow-up survey, 2000-01*. Washington, D.C.: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Luiselli, J.K., Putnam, R.F., Handler, M.W., & Feinberg, A.B. (2005). Whole-school positive behavior support: Effects on student discipline problems and academic performance. *Educational Psychology*, 25(2-3), 183-198.
- McIntosh, N. J. (1991). Identification and investigation of properties of social support. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 72, 201-217.
- Miner, B. (2008). Teaching's revolving door. *Rethinking Schools*. 23(2), 6-10.
- Ozer, E.J. & Weinstein, R.S. (2004). Urban adolescents' exposure to community violence: The role of support, school safety, and social constraints in a school-based sample of boys and girls. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 33 (3), 463-476. doi:10.1207/s15374424jccp3303_4
- Payne, A.A., Gottfredon, D.C., & Gottfredson, G.D. (2003). Schools as communities:

 The relationships among communal school organization, student bonding, and school disorder. *Criminology*, 41(3), 749-777.

- Phillips, B.N. & Lee, M. (1980). The changing role of the American teacher: Current and future sources of stress. In: Cooper, C.L. and Marshall, J. (Eds.) *White Collar and Professional Stress*, John Wiley and Sons, New York, 93-111.
- Pierce, C.M.B. & Malloy, G.N. (1996). Psychological and biographical differences between secondary school teachers experiencing high and low levels of burnout. British Journal of Educational Psychology, 65, 387-392.
- Pietrzak, D., Petersen, G.J., & Speaker, K. (1998). Perceptions of school violence by elementary and middle school personnel. *Professional School Counseling*, 1, 23-32.
- Ripski, M. & Gregory, A. (2009). Unfair, unsafe and unwelcome: Do high school students' perceptions of unfairness, hostility, and victimization in school predict engagement and math achievement? *Journal of School Violence*, 8, 355-379. doi: 10.1080/15388220903132755
- Robers, S., Zhang, J., Truman, J., & Snyder, T.D. (2010). Indicators of School Crime and Safety: 2010. National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved June 6, 2011 from http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2011/2011002.pdf.
- Ronfeldt, M., Loeb, S., & Wyckoff, J. (2012). How teacher turnover harms student achievement. *American Educational Research Journal*, 50(1), 4-36. doi: 10.3102/0002831212463813
- Rutter, M. (1985). Resilience in the face of adversity: Protective factors and resistance to psychiatric disorder. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *147*, 598-611.

- Shernoff, E.S., Marinez-Lopez, A.M., Frazier, S.L., Jackobsons, L.J., Atkins, M.S., & Bonner, D. (2012). Teachers supporting teachers in urban schools: What iterative research designs can teach us. *School Psychology Review*, 40(4), 465-485.
- Shernoff, E.S., Mehta, T.G., Atkins, M.S., Torf, R., & Spender, J. (2011). A qualitative study of the sources and impact of stress among urban teachers. *School Mental Health*, *3*(2), 59-69.
- Shumaker, S.A. & Czajkowski, S.M. (1994). *Social support and cardiovascular disease*. (Eds.) New York: Plenum.
- Skaalvik, E.M. & Skaalvik, S. (2011). Teacher job satisfaction and motivation to leave the teaching profession: Relations with school context, feeling of belonging, and emotional exhaustion. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27, 1029-1038.
- Smith, D.L, & Smith, B.J. (2006). Perception of violence: The views of teachers who left urban schools. *The High School Journal*, 89(3), 34-42.
- Snyder, T. D. & Dillow, S. A. (2010). *Digest of Education Statistics 2009* (NCES 2010-013). National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences,U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC.
- Spencer, M. B., Harpalani, V., Cassidy, E., Jacobs, C., Donde, S., Goss, T., Miller, M.M., Charles, N., & Wilson, S. (2006). Understanding vulnerability and resilience from a normative development perspective: Implications for racially and ethnically diverse youth. In: Cicchetti D. & Cohen E. (Eds.) *Handbook of development and psychopathology*, 2nd Edition. New York: Wiley, 627–672.
- Steinberg, M.P., Allensworth, E., & Johnson, D.W. (2011). Student and teacher safety in Chicago public schools: The roles of community context and school social

- organization. *Consortium on Chicago School Research at the University of Chicago Urban Education Institute*. Retrieved December 13, 2011 from http://ccsr.uchicago.edu/downloads/8499safety_in_cps.pdf.
- Steptoe, A. (1991). Psychological coping, and health risk. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 851, 470-476.
- Tickle, B.R., Chang, M., & Kim, S. (2011). Administrative support and its mediating effect on US public school teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27, 342-349.
- Tourkin, S., Thomas, T., Swaim, N., Cox, S., Parmer, R., Jackson, B., Cole, C., Zhang,
 B., & Gruber, K. (2010). Documentation for the 2007-08 schools and staffing survey. *National Center for Education Statistics*. Washington, D.C.: U.S.
 Department of Education.
- Webster-Stratton, C., Reid, M.J., & Stoolmiller, M. (2008). Preventing conduct problems and improving school readiness: Evaluation of the Incredible Years Teacher and Child Training Programs in high-risk schools. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(5), 471-488. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01861
- Welsh, W.N. (2000). The effects of school climate on school disorder. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 567, 88-107.
- Wilcox, P., Augustine, M.C., & Clayton, R.R. (2006). Physical Environment and Crime and Misconduct in Kentucky Schools. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 27(3), 293-313.

- Williams, L.E., Winfree, Jr., L.T., & Clinton, L. (1988). Trouble in the Schoolhouse:

 New views on victimization, fear of crime, and teacher perceptions of the

 workplace. *Violence and Victims*, 4(1), 27-44.
- Zeira, A., Astor, R.A., & Benbenishty, R. (2004). School violence in Israel: Perceptions of homeroom teachers. *School Psychology International*, 25(2), 149-166. doi: 10.1177/0143034304043679

Appendix A

Administrative Support Scales

To what extent do you agree or disagree with each of the following statements?

Strongly Agree = 1, Agree = 2, Disagree = 3, Strongly Disagree = 4

- 1. The school's administration's behavior toward the staff is supportive and encouraging.
- My principal enforces school rules for student conduct and backs me up when I need it.
- 3. The principal knows what kind of school he or she wants and has communicated it to the staff.
- 4. The teachers at this school like being here; I would describe us as a satisfied group.
- 5. I like the way things are run in this school.

Appendix B

Descriptive Teacher Attrition Outcomes

Indicate the level of importance each of the following played in your decision to leave the position of K-12 teacher.

Not at all important = 1, Slightly Important = 2, Somewhat Important = 3, Very Important = 4, Extremely Important = 5

- 1. Because I was dissatisfied with workplace conditions (e.g., facilities, classroom resources, school safety) at last year's school.
- 2. Because student discipline problems were an issue at last year's school.

Appendix C

Literature review on teacher attrition, victimization, and protective factors

Across the United States, teachers are exiting the profession at alarming rates.

Twenty-five to 50% of beginning teachers leave the profession (Boyd, Grossman, Ing,

Lankford, & Wyckoff, 2009; Kaiser & Cross, 2007). There are many influences that

contribute to teacher attrition (e.g., individual and school characteristics) that continue to

be closely examined in the literature. Additionally, teachers often cite student

misbehavior as a reason for leaving. This section examines a handful of key aspects of

teacher attrition, including student assaults on teachers. Understanding these key issues

can assist with addressing and ameliorating the issues of teacher attrition.

Teacher Attrition

Almost 25% of teachers leave the profession within the first three years of teaching (Kaiser & Cross, 2007). Approximately 3.4 million teachers were employed in school during the 2007-2008 school year; by the following year 8% of those teachers had left the profession – approximately 270,000 exited the occupation (Keigher, 2010). Additional studies have found 40-50% of beginning instructors leave teaching (Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, & Wyckoff, 2009; Ingersoll & Smith, 2003). Comparatively, teacher attrition is disproportionately higher than other professions (Liu & Meyer, 2005). National data on rates of employee turnover reveals attrition rates in other professions has remained stable over a decade, averaging 11% per year while teaching has remained higher fluctuating from 14.5% in 1988-1989 to 17% in 2000-2001 (Ingersoll, 2002). High turnover in schools may create a "revolving door" where students receive inexperienced, less effective teachers. For instance, almost 44% of elementary teachers

in lower-performing schools in New York City left their initial school within the first two years of teaching (Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, & Wyckoff, 2009). Boyd and colleagues (2009) suggested that higher turnover leads to instability in schools which could lead to incoherent and ineffective instruction. In addition, the same authors found that schools with a higher population of non-white, low-performing, and low-income students experience higher turnover rates, and these students may be the most in need of a consistent school experience. Higher rates of turnover not only indicate underlying problems in how well a school functions but also disrupt the quality of school community and performance (Ingersoll, 2001).

Individual Characteristics

Most research has focused on the relationship between teacher attrition and teacher's individual characteristics or school characteristics. Studies have primarily examined what types of teachers have higher attrition rates and what types of schools experience higher teacher attrition rates. At the individual level, several characteristics have been identified. A teacher's age highly correlates with attrition rates. Age creates a U-shaped curve revealing that attrition is higher among younger and older teachers (Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, & Wyckoff, 2009; Guarino, Santibanez, & Daley, 2006; Ingersoll & Smith, 2003; Kukla-Acevedo, 2009). More specifically, higher attrition occurs in the younger and older ages compared to the 30 to 49 years old age group. Rates of attrition reach 20% per year for teachers over age 60, partially due to retirement age (Boe et al., 1997) and the odds of a young teacher departing the profession are 171% higher than a middle-aged teacher (Ingersoll, 2001).

Teaching experience tends to be correlated with age. Novice teachers (one to three years of experience) are approximately 1.5 times as likely to leave teaching and 2 times as likely to switch schools as are experienced teachers (over three years of experience; Kukla-Acevedo, 2009). More experienced teachers are less likely to turn over. For teachers who have four or more years of experience, 5.6% have been found to leave teaching while those teachers with less than four years of teaching, 9.2% exited the profession (Boe et al., 1997). Experience can be defined as the number of years teaching as well as qualification and teaching status. For example, teachers who are more fully certified in their primary teaching role are more likely to stay in teaching than those who are partially certified (Boe et al., 1997).

The subject and field of teaching are also associated with teacher attrition.

Special education, mathematics, and science are typically examined when assessing rates of turnover; however, these results have been mixed. Studies have found that special education teachers are more likely to exit the profession (Ingersoll, 2001; Kelly, 2004).

Math and science teachers have not been found to be associated with attrition (Ingersoll, 2001) while Kelly (2004) reported science teachers leave the profession at higher rates than other academic subjects, although the effect was not statistically significant.

Some studies have shown that men tend to stay in their profession longer than women (Ingersoll, 2001; Kelly, 2004; Kukla-Acevedo, 2009). Women have been found to leave teaching due to raising children. Those who have young children, added a dependent child or have a change in marital status leave the teaching profession at higher rates (Boe et al., 1997). However, some women tend to transfer to another school as

opposed to leave making the attrition rates of men and women teachers equivalent (Kukla-Acevedo, 2009).

Salary has also been associated with attrition rates. Teachers with low salaries tend to leave schools at a faster rate (Ingersoll, 2001; Kelly, 2004). Teachers have also cited an inadequate compensation as one reason for leaving the profession (Ingersoll & Smith, 2003). In fact, salary has been found to be the most reliable predictor of teacher attrition (Boe et al., 1997).

At the school level, several characteristics are associated with teacher attrition. Smaller schools (e.g., smaller enrollment size) have higher levels of attrition (Boe et al., 1997; Ingersoll, 2001; Kelly, 2004). An enrollment difference of 100 students is associated with a 4% difference in the odds of a teacher leaving (Ingersoll, 2001). Scholars speculated that larger schools allow for greater connections to be made to others in the profession (Ingersoll, 2001).

Conflicting information has been found regarding urban schools. Some studies have found no association between teacher turnover and community type (i.e., rural, suburban or urban) or only slightly higher rates of turnover (Boe et al., 1997; Ingersoll, 2001). Teachers in rural schools have been found to have higher attrition rates (Ingersoll, 2001); however, little difference has been found between suburban and urban schools (Ingersoll, 2001; Kelly, 2004). Due to this conflicting information, turnover rates are thought to be more associated with poverty than community type. Ingersoll (2001) notes that high poverty (i.e., poverty enrollment of 50% or more) public schools have higher turnover rates than public schools with poverty enrollment below 15%. Noteworthy,

however, is that one study showed poverty concentration had no statistically significant association with attrition (Kelly, 2004).

Proportion of minority students in schools has also revealed mixed results. Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, & Wyckoff (2009) found that teachers are more likely to leave when the school in which they work has higher proportions of Black and Hispanic students. However, other studies have found no association between minority enrollment and teachers exiting the profession (Boe et al., 1997). Kelly (2004) found that schools with a higher minority enrollment size had lower levels of attrition compared to predominately White schools.

Previous attempts to combat attrition have focused on individual-level characteristics. Boe et al. (1997) recommends hiring experienced teachers, between the ages of 35 to 55 who have dependent children over the age of 5 and to place these teachers in full-time positions for which they have full certification and pay them a higher salary. Other attempts have focused on recruitment initiatives such as "troops-to-teachers" which focuses on getting mid-career professionals who change careers and "Teach for America" (Ingersoll, 2001). Financial incentives, including signing bonuses, student loan forgiveness, housing assistance, and tuition reimbursement have also been used to reduce teacher attrition (Kopp, 1992; Hirsch, Koppich, & Knapp, 2001).

Monetary incentives have been less effective in keeping teachers (Futernick, 2007).

High-stakes accountability has also been created; however, this has been found to negatively influence teachers by increasing time on test preparation and intensifying the pressure for higher test scores (Banicky & Noble, 2001).

Organizational Characteristics

Organizational characteristics and workplace conditions have also been examined as influences in teacher attrition rates. Job dissatisfaction with teaching has been reported as a reason for exiting the profession. Dissatisfaction is often due to lack of support from school administration, student discipline problems, and lack of student motivation.

Ingersoll (2001) found that 42% of all teachers who left the profession reported job dissatisfaction as a reason. Schools that provide more administrative support to teachers have lower turnover rates – with more support from the administration resulting in a 23% difference in the odds of a teacher leaving (Ingersoll, 2001).

Student discipline problems are also frequently cited as a reason for teachers leaving the profession. Schools with lower levels of student discipline problems tend to have lower turnover rates (Ingersoll, 2001). Specifically, one study showed that schools with lower reported student problems had a 47% difference in the odds of a teacher leaving (Ingersoll, 2001). Studies are beginning to reveal that poor workplace conditions influence which teachers choose to remain in the profession (Johnson, Berg, & Donaldson, 2005). Poor workplace conditions are characterized by student discipline problems, lack of support from school administration, and poor student motivation (Ingersoll & Smith, 2003). Taken together, previous research on teacher attrition reveals that workplace conditions are predictive of teacher attrition; however, it remains unknown how attrition rates are impacted by teachers who experience verbal and physical student violence.

Teacher Safety

Teacher working conditions includes whether school staff experience safety in the schools. Student misbehavior typically interferes with the effectiveness of the teacher, disrupts the learning environment, and violates school rules. Low-level misbehavior interferes with classroom functioning, yet teachers can experience much more serious rule-violating behavior from their students. Specifically, they can be the victim of verbal or physical assault. One-third of school social workers report fearing for their safety about once a month (Astor, Behre, Wallace, & Fravil, 1998). Overall, 35% of those respondents who reported being fearful indicated they had been physically assaulted or threatened by students within a one year period. Teachers report teaching difficulties associated with violence in their schools – conflict in the classroom results in a lack of motivation to perform daily work among the teaching staff (Alonzo, Lopez-Castedo, & Juste, 2009).

An estimated 2.0 million crimes occurred in schools during the 2007-2008 school year (Snyder & Dillow, 2010). This equates to 43 crimes per 1,000 public school students. Additionally, 62% of schools reported a crime which occurred at school to the police, or about 15 crimes per 1,000 public students. The U.S. Indicators of School Crime and Safety (NCES, 2010) further indicated that between 1999-2000 and 2007-2009, increases occurred in the percentage of public schools reporting the following measures: controlled access to the building during school hours (75-90%); controlled access to school grounds during school hours (34-43%); students required to wear badges or picture IDs (4-8%); faculty required to wear badges or picture IDs (25-58%); use of one or more security cameras to monitor the school (19-55%); telephones in most

classrooms (45-72%); and requiring students to wear uniforms (12-18%). Schools perceived increases in violence and have increased their safety measures in an effort to protect students and staff. While increased safety measures may not be a direct result of violence in the school, it reveals the increased concern of schools.

The Indicators of School Crime and Safety: 2010 also reported data on teacher victimization. During the 2007-2008 school year, 10% of teachers working in city schools were threatened with injury and 6% of teachers working in suburban or rural schools were threatened with injury. The number of teachers who were physically attacked is lower. Small differences were noted between city (5%), suburban (4%), and rural (3%) schools. Additionally, teachers working in elementary schools indicated receiving higher rates of physical attack. Six percent of teachers working in elementary schools were physically attacked in 2007-2008 compared to 2% of teachers in secondary schools. Additional results of this report indicated that 11% of teachers reported being the target of student disrespect on a daily or weekly basis. Furthermore, 34% of teachers reported that student misbehavior in their classrooms interfered with their teaching. Taken as a whole, the report suggests many teachers are experiencing violence and aggression in their classrooms, ranging from disrespect to physical violence.

Gottfredson and Gottfredson (1985) were among the first to examine victimization in the schools and to specifically examine predictors of teacher victimization, including sense of community of the school and the demographics of the students in the school. Their findings suggested that poverty and crime in the community, along with race and socioeconomic status, urbanicity, and the size of school enrollment were related to teacher victimization. Other factors related to teacher

victimization included teachers with large number of students, low levels of cooperation between teachers and administrators, and teachers with punitive attitudes. In addition, teacher victimization is higher in schools with students who do not see rules as being fair and students who do not seem to believe in the rules and norms of the school. Schools that experience less victimization are characterized by fair and consistent rules and consequences, clear expectations for behavior, and positive rewards for rule-following behavior.

Additional studies have reported on rates of teacher victimization. Gottfredson et al. (2000) examined data from the 1997-1998 school year. Teacher reports in secondary schools indicated that 42% had received obscene remarks and gestures from a student, 28% had damage to personal property (<\$10), 24% had property stolen (<\$10), 21% were threatened by a student, 14% had damage to personal property (>\$10), 3% were physically attacked, and less than 1% were physically attacked and had to see a doctor as a result of the attack or had a weapon pulled on them. Results of this study found that teacher victimization was higher in middle schools than high schools for obscene remarks and gestures, minor property damage, minor theft, threats, minor physical attacks, and physical attacks which required a physician. Greater victimization was reported in urban schools for serious attack, minor theft, major theft, minor property damage, and threats and obscene remarks. Furthermore, 20% of secondary school teachers, and 31% of urban middle school teachers reported being verbally threatened by a student. In addition, in the Gottfredson et al. (2000) study, 28% of students reported seeing a teacher being threatened by a student and 12% saw a teacher being hit or attacked by a student. Students who identified themselves as Black reported seeing a teacher threatened by a

student more than students who identified as White -40% to 27% respectively. Fewer students identified as Asian or Pacific Islander reported these events -18%.

In Virginia, faculty safety was examined to determine teachers' experience of victimization (Gregory, Cornell, & Fan, 2012). In the statewide study of over 90% of the public high schools, almost 20% of teachers reported being verbally threatened by a student and 43.2% reported receiving obscene remarks or gestures from a student. Overall, four out of five teachers reported being spoken to in a rude or disrespectful manner by a student. Similarly, a recent report of crime and disorder in Chicago revealed that nearly half of all teachers in grades K-8 reported significant problems related to disrespect of teachers (Steinberg et al., 2011). Over 60% of high school teachers reported problems with student disrespect of teachers and more than 25% reported student threats of violence toward teachers in their school.

Teacher victimization related to schools in impoverished communities has revealed mixed results. Some studies have found that the measure of poverty in a school predicts teacher victimization (Gottfredson et al., 2005; Payne, Gottfredson, & Gottfredson, 2003; Steinberg et al., 2011) while Gregory, Cornell, and Fan (2012) found no association between poverty level, as measured through free and reduced lunch, and teacher victimization. Concentrated poverty and residential crowding are more highly related to teacher victimization than to student victimization or other forms of student delinquency (Payne, Gottfredson, & Gottfredson, 2003). A handful of studies have all found that schools with higher percentages of African-American students are associated with higher teacher-reported victimization (Gottfredson et al., 2005; Gregory, Cornell, & Fan, 2012; Payne, Gottfredson, & Gottfredson, 2003; Steinberg et al., 2011). School

enrollment size has also produced mixed results with some studies finding an association with teacher victimization (Gregory, Cornell, & Fan, 2012) and others finding no association (Payne, Gottfredson, & Gottfredson, 2003; Steinberg et al., 2011). Higher levels of victimization, among students and teachers, are reported in schools with more male students (Gottfredson et al., 2005). Male teachers are also more likely to be the victims of violence than females (Pietrzak, Petersen, & Speaker, 1998).

One study showed urbanicity is not related to teacher victimization (Payne, Gottfredson, & Gottfredson, 2003). Safety varies considerably among schools in Chicago indicating that factors other than urbanicity are associated with teacher victimization (Steinberg et al., 2011). Gottfredson and colleagues (2005) suggest a possible reason for the finding that urbanicity is not related to teacher victimization. They propose that either teacher victimization is becoming less common in urban areas and is showing up in other communities or teachers in non-urban areas are becoming more likely to recognize and report victimization.

Teacher victimization has also been examined in relation to school climate and school disorder. Communally organized schools are found to have more positive student attitudes, better teacher morale, and less student problem behavior (Payne, Gottfredson, & Gottfredson, 2003). Communally organized schools are indicated by supportive relationships among teachers, administrators, and students who all have a common set of goals and norms, as well as a sense of collaboration and involvement. Schools with less communal organization and higher levels of school disorder are found to be more highly related to teacher victimization (Payne, Gottfredson, & Gottfredson, 2003; Wilcox et al., 2006).

School climate has also been analyzed as a predictor of teacher victimization. School climate has examined perceived fairness and clarity of rules in the school as well as other positive psychosocial factors within the school setting. The psychosocial climate of the school predicts teacher-reported victimization (Gottfredson et al., 2005). The safety of the school is characterized by student and teacher perceptions of safety and the relationship between students and teachers. Schools in which students and teachers report having a generally safe climate, include one in which teachers report few problems with crime and violence and students say their peers get along well with each other and care about each other (Steinberg et al., 2011). In an unsafe school, teachers report problems including robbery, gang activity, and fights – three-quarters of teachers within an unsafe school report that students threaten them with violence (Steinberg et al., 2011). When teachers perceive greater support and structure in the school they report lower levels of victimization (Gregory, Cornell, & Fan, 2012). The perception of a school as being safer is related to people working together and building trust and collaborative relationships (Steinberg et al., 2011). These results show that the relationship between students, teachers, and administration impacts teacher victimization.

Current recommendations on combating teacher victimization focus on improving school climate and teacher-student relationships. Espelage and colleagues (2013) suggest teachers maintain appropriate boundaries with students and appropriate safety in public spaces. They offer specific suggestions that teacher training programs should help make engaging classroom environments and responsive classrooms. Additional recommendations include effective classroom management skills and nurturing positive relationships.

Teachers are experiencing violence in the schools and classrooms, and some studies have examined how teacher victimization impacts the teacher. Teacher victimization increases stress and fear among teachers (Dworkin, Haney, & Telschow, 1988). Williams, Winfree, and Clinton (1988) analyzed data from teachers in Texas from 1985. They found that females reported higher levels of fear related to victimization. On the other hand, females reported lower levels of victimization as compared to males. Older individuals were also more likely to report greater levels of fear related to victimization. Being a victim significantly predicted the level of fear the teacher reported. Teachers also perceive safety differently according to location in the school. Teachers generally rate classrooms as safe yet they see the locker room, gym and restrooms as less safe (Gottfredson et al., 2000). Perception of safety also differs according to school level. In a study by Steinberg et al. (2011), at the elementary school level 49% of teachers are at least a little concerned about violent threats to teachers and 65% at the high school level. Only 13% of teachers in elementary schools are not concerned about disrespect of teachers and 5% of teachers in high school.

Student violence directed at teachers also results in lower job satisfaction, increased emotional exhaustion (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2011), and greater stress (Dworkin, Haney, & Telschow, 1988). Being the victim of extreme acts of violence can result in somatic complaints (e.g., dizziness) and can result in symptoms related to Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (Daniels, Bradley, & Hays, 2007). As noted previously, teacher stress is predictive of attrition; however, the link between teacher victimization and attrition has been underexamined. Two studies are the exception.

Zeira, Astor, and Benbenishty (2004) studied school violence in Israel by examining the perceptions of homeroom teachers on violence in their schools. Their sample included 1,521 teachers from 232 schools. The authors were interested in understanding the differences between teachers' views on violence according to the type of school in which the teachers worked: Jewish secular, Jewish religious, and Arab. Comparable to other studies, the authors found that verbal threats were the most frequent (17%), then threatening to hurt a teacher (5.9%), and then destruction of a teacher's personal belongings (3.6%). The authors found that 74.8% of teachers reported they do not worry about their personal safety. The authors also asked teachers if they thought about leaving the profession because of school violence. Eighty-five percent of teachers reported they never thought of exiting teaching, 12.4% rarely (once a year or less), and 2.7% frequently thought about it. While the majority of teachers reported not considering leaving teaching, when the teachers were examined by school level, 18.7% of high school teachers, 14.9% of junior high school teachers, and 13.1% of primary school teachers had thought about leaving the profession. This study provides preliminary evidence that violence against teachers impacts teacher *thoughts* about the profession. Additionally, the authors noted that teacher victimization in Israel is about half that of the United States.

Galand, Lecocq, and Philippot (2007) examined the effects of student violence on teacher's professional disengagement. Studying a sample of 24 schools and 40 teachers in Belgium the authors examined the relationship between perceived school support, exposure to school violence, subjective well-being, and professional disengagement among teachers, as well as the buffering effect of school support between school violence

and well-being. The study specifically measured teacher reports of student misbehavior (e.g., drinking or eating during lessons, arriving without school equipment, refusing to take off cap, etc.), verbal victimization (i.e., rumors, racist insults, sexist insults, and verbal intimidation) and perceived violence in the school to determine how often insults, vandalism, threats with objects or weapons, theft, sexual aggression, fights, and use of drug or of alcohol occur in school. The teachers also rated their perception of leadership in their school and relationships with colleagues as well as measures of depression, anxiety, and somatization. Professional disengagement was measured by teachers rating if they planned to leave teaching, if they would leave if they had another job offer, or if they would like to have another occupation.

The results of the Galand, Lecocq, and Philippot (2007) study revealed that teachers who reported having more social support from colleagues and staff were less likely to report feeling disengaged from teaching. Results also revealed that student misbehavior, perceived violence, verbal victimization, somatization, depression, and anxiety were associated with higher levels of disengagement. This study suggests that the negative emotional impact of school violence could contribute to teachers' intention to leave the profession, and that building a positive school social climate and school support may provide a way to prevent teachers from leaving. Taken together, these two studies reveal that teachers are negatively impacted by the violence they experience and that administrative support may buffer these negative effects; however, the authors studied teachers' *beliefs* and *intent* to stay in teaching rather than examining behavior. Studies are needed that examine the impact of verbal and physical aggression directed at

teachers associated with actual teacher attrition data thereby providing a link between teacher victimization and teacher behavior (i.e., staying or leaving the profession).

Administrative Support

Teacher attrition is associated with a number or risk factors; therefore, it is important to identify protective factors to reduce these negative outcomes. Rutter's (1985) definition of protective factors emphasizes their role in influencing, modifying, ameliorating, or changing a response to a risk in the environment that predisposes a person to negative outcomes. Additional definitions have characterized protective factors as those which help a person to cope with incredible challenges and promote positive outcomes, while reducing the likelihood of negative consequences (Fergus & Zimmerman, 2005; Spencer et al., 2006). Using these definitions, a protective factor would provide a support mechanism for teachers which would reduce their potential to leave the profession due to victimization.

Research on stress and coping provides a theoretical framework for identifying protective factors. Lazarus (1993) describes the stress process as involving four concepts. The first is the causal external or internal stressor which is followed by the second step, the evaluation (either psychologically or physiologically) which identifies the stressor as threatening. The third step is the coping process used by the mind or body to deal with the stressful demands and, finally, the stress reaction which is a complex pattern of effects on the mind and body. Lazarus also distinguished three different types of stress – harm, threat, and challenge. Harm refers to psychological damage that has already been done. Threat is the anticipation of harm that has not taken place yet; an

unpleasant state of mind that may impair functioning. Challenge is the result of difficult demands that an individual feels confident to overcome by using coping resources.

Coping is described by Lazarus (1993) as altering circumstances, or how they are interpreted, to make them appear more favorable. Coping reduces stress reactions through problem-focused coping or emotion-focused coping. Problem-focused coping refers to coping actions that alter a person's relationship with the environment and results in a reduction of psychological stress. Emotion-focused coping alters the way one attends to or interprets what is happening. This involves reappraisal of a threat into nonthreatening terms which eliminates the cognitive basis of the initial stress reaction. Overall, coping shapes emotion along with psychological stress, by influencing the relationship between the person and environment as well as how it is appraised.

People have a variety of coping behaviors from which to choose when confronted with a stressor (Fleming, Baum, & Singer, 1984) and social support can reduce the impact of stressors (Cohen & Wills, 1985). With teachers, lower social support correlates with higher burnout (Pierce & Malloy, 1996). Coworker support has been found to buffer the impact of teacher stress on burnout (Greenglass, Burke, & Konarksi, 1997). Griffith, Steptoe, and Cropley (1999) found that seeking social support moderates the impact of teacher stress on well-being.

Administrative support is "the school's effectiveness in assisting teachers with issues such as student discipline, instructional methods, curriculum, and adjusting the school environment" (Borman & Dowling, 2008, p. 380). Literature has shown that a lack of administrative support is a reason cited for teacher attrition. Boyd, Grossman, Ing, Lankford, and Wyckoff (2009) examined working conditions associated with schools

with higher turnover rates in New York City public schools. Teachers were asked to identify what aspect of their job most influenced their decision to leave or consider leaving the profession and over 40% identified dissatisfaction with the administration as the most important factor. One standard deviation increase in a teacher's positive perception of school administration resulted in a 28% decrease of the teacher's likelihood to leave the profession. Teacher attrition is higher in schools with poor support from school administration and limited input into decision-making – the odds of a teacher leaving decreased by 23% due to an increase in administrative support (Ingersoll, 2001). Additional studies have found lack of administrative support to be a significant predictor of a teachers' decision to leave teaching (Ingersoll & Smith, 2003; Liu & Meyer, 2005; Luekens, Lyter, Fox, & Chandler, 2004; Weiss, 1999). More recent studies have examined if increased administrative support results in decreased teacher attrition. Kukla-Acevedo (2009) found that support from the principal (e.g., communicating expectations and maintaining order in the school) protected against teacher turnover. Teachers' perceptions of school leadership are predictive of teachers' intentions to stay in the school (Ladd, 2009).

Tickle, Chang, and Kim (2011) used Schools and Staffing Survey data from 2003-2004 to examine the effects of administrative support on teacher attrition. The authors defined administrative support as: the principal lets staff members know what is expected of them, the school administration's behavior toward the staff is supportive and encouraging, the principal enforces school rules for student conduct and backs up the teacher when he/she needs it, the principal knows what kind of school he/she wants and has communicated it to the staff, and staff members are recognized for a job well done.

The results indicated that administrative support was a significant predictor of teachers' job satisfaction and intent to stay in teaching.

Positive relationships among teachers and administration also impact school environments. High-quality relationships among students, teachers, and parents results in safer schools even if these schools serve the least advantaged students (Steinberg et al., 2011). School-based relationships have been identified as crucial in creating safe school environments – the most disadvantaged schools with the highest-quality relationships have school climates which are at least as safe as more advantaged schools with weaker school-based relationships (Steinberg et al., 2011). Steinberg et al. (2011) found that the gap in safety in schools of advantage (e.g., poverty, crime, achievement) is overcome by the quality of school-based relationships. The quality and form of school leadership was also identified as a factor in the perception of school crime and disorder. The quality of relationships at work with colleagues affects teachers' perception of safety in their school.

Two studies have examined the role of school leadership on the effects of student violence. Galand, Lecocq, and Philippot (2007), described previously, suggest building a positive school social climate as a way to prevent teachers from leaving. Skaalvik and Skaalvik (2011) also examined the role of student violence and the mediating impact of administrative support. They studied Norwegian public schools to examine teachers' feeling of belongingness in school, in particular as it related to support from their supervisors. The researchers were interested in discovering if emotional exhaustion mediates work-related stress (e.g., discipline problems with students, time pressure) and job satisfaction and motivation to leave teaching. The authors found that discipline

problems significantly predicted emotional exhaustion. In addition, teachers with lower job satisfaction and less feelings of belongingness had an increased motivation to leave teaching. Their results reveal that supervisory support is predictive of belongingness. The authors suggest that a protective barrier against emotional exhaustion is a sense of belongingness. They speculate that school administration should pay more attention to teachers' feeling of belongingness as well as their emotional exhaustion and job satisfaction. This study highlights the role school administration and supervisors can play in mediating the effects of teacher victimization.

In sum, protective factors remain an important buffer to combat negative outcomes of teacher victimization. Administrative support may be one of many protective factors for teachers who experience violence in schools. Identifying whether protective factors reduce the likelihood of teachers who experience victimization from leaving the profession has implications for reducing the national rates of teacher attrition.

Summary

Teacher attrition in America remains an important issue considering the current high rates. Teachers' intention to leave the profession is associated with student discipline problems. Less understood is whether more severe forms of student discipline problems, such as verbal and physical assault are associated with teachers leaving the profession. Teacher victimization is linked to negative emotional and psychological consequences. Protective factors within the individual teacher and within the teacher's environment play an important role to shield teachers from negative outcomes associated with teacher victimization. More and more research has begun focusing on the effect of victimization on teachers. Understanding the relationship between teacher attrition and

rates of teacher victimization is important, considering the rates in which teachers experience violence in the schools. Furthermore, it is necessary to identify if administrative support is a protective factor which buffers against the negative outcomes resulting from teacher victimization.